2003

# Joseph Machock; John L. Hamer v. Carl William ("Bill") Fink : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION OF THE APPELLATE COURT**

On June 10, 2003, the Utah Supreme Court granted permission to pursue this interlocutory appeal. (R. 527.) At the same time the Court transferred this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4) (2002) (R. 527.)

The Utah Supreme Court has original appellate jurisdiction over this interlocutory appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (2002) because this appeal involves the review of an order of a trial court over which the Utah Court of Appeals does not have original jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2) (2002) and because this is a case transferred to this Court from the Supreme Court under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (2002).

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Issue: Is the three-month statutory limitation period of Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 (2000), satisfied by the filing of a breach of contract complaint *before* the foreclosure sale and where notice of the sale and the claimed deficiency is afterward given to defendant through means other than the filing of a complaint?

Standard of Review: This is a question of law that was raised below and ruled upon in the trial court's Ruling on Defendant's [Fink's] Motion for Summary Judgment (the "Ruling"). (R. 496-506.) This issue was decided based on undisputed facts submitted in connection with Fink's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 496-97; 199-202; 436-41.) This Court should review the trial court's denial of Fink's motion for correctness without deference to the trial court's ruling. Estate Landscape & Snow Removal Specialists, Inc. v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., 844 P.2d 322,

326 (Utah 1992); see also Petersen v. Board of Educ. of Davis School Dist., 855 P.2d 241, 242 (Utah 1993) (the trial court's denial of the motion to dismiss is one of law which is reviewed for correctness without deference to the trial court's ruling).

**CITATION TO THE RECORD SHOWING THAT THE ISSUE WAS  
PRESERVED IN THE TRIAL COURT**

This issue was properly raised in the Motion for Summary Judgment that Fink filed in the trial court. (R. 195-198 & 199-296.) The trial court ruled on this issue in a written opinion. (R. 496-506 (Ruling on Defendant's [Fink's] Motion for Summary Judgment (the "Ruling"))).

**A STATUTE OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE  
TO THIS APPEAL**

The issue presented on this appeal is governed by Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 (2000), which provides:

At any time *within three months* after any sale of property under a trust deed, as hereinabove provided, an action may be commenced to recover the balance due upon the obligation for which the trust deed was given as security, and in such action *the complaint shall set forth the entire amount of the indebtedness which was secured by such trust deed, the amount for which such property was sold, and the fair market value thereof at the date of sale.* Before rendering judgment, the court shall find the fair market value at the date of sale of the property sold. The court may not render judgment for more than the amount by which the amount of the indebtedness with interest, costs, and expenses of sale, including trustee's and attorney's fees, exceeds the fair market value of the property as of the date of the sale. In any action brought under this section, the prevailing party shall be entitled to collect its costs and reasonable attorney fees incurred in bringing an action under this section.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 (2000) (emphasis added).<sup>1</sup>

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On October 15, 1999, Joseph Machock (“Machock”) filed a complaint against Carl William Fink (“Fink”) claiming breach of a written guaranty pertaining to a loan Machock made to John Harmer (“Harmer”). This loan was secured by a deed of trust pledging Harmer’s residence as collateral. Thereafter, Machock pursued foreclosure of the Harmer residence. On February 19, 2000, Machock foreclosed on Harmer’s residence.

More than three months elapsed after the foreclosure sale and Machock did not file a complaint seeking a deficiency judgment under Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32. On February 2, 2001, Fink filed a motion for summary judgment on this basis, among others, arguing that Machock’s complaint in this case is barred because Machock failed to file a deficiency action to recover the balance due on the obligation for which the trust deed was given as security within three months following the sale, as required by section 57-1-32. Machock opposed Fink’s motion.

On March 6, 2003, the trial court heard oral arguments on Fink’s motion and took the matter under advisement. On March 19, 2003, the trial court denied Fink’s motion in a written ruling. This interlocutory appeal seeks review of an issue presented in Fink’s motion.

---

<sup>1</sup> Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 was amended in 2001. The amendment is not relevant to the issues in this appeal because all pertinent facts occurred prior to this amendment. In addition, the 2001 amendments are primarily stylistic and do not influence the issue raised in this appeal.



## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The following is a statement of the facts relevant to the issue presented for review. These facts were undisputed in the trial court and were used by the trial court as the basis for its ruling on Fink's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 497-98 (Ruling at 2, ¶¶ 1-9); R. 199-202 (Statement of Undisputed Material Facts, Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Defendant's [Fink's] Motion for Summary Judgment ("Fink's Statement of Facts"), at 2-5); R. 436-41 (Response to Fink's Statement of Facts, Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's [Fink's] Motion for Summary Judgment ("Machock's Response"), at 2-7)). The pertinent undisputed facts are as follows:

1. On May 29, 1998, Joseph Machock ("Machock") loaned \$125,000 to John L. Harmer ("Harmer"). (R. 497 (Ruling, ¶ 1); R. 199 (Fink's Statement of Facts, ¶ 5); R. 437 (Machock's Response, ¶ 5)).
2. In connection with this loan:
  - a. Harmer executed and delivered to Machock a Note Secured by Deed of Trust wherein Harmer promised to pay Machock \$150,000 on demand (the "Note"). (R. 497 (Ruling, ¶ 1); R. 200 (Fink's Statement of Facts, ¶ 6(a)); R. 437 (Machock's Response, ¶ 6)).
  - b. Harmer caused a Trust Deed to be executed and recorded in the public records of Davis County, Utah (the "Trust Deed"). The Trust Deed pledged Harmer's Bountiful, Utah, home (the

“Harmer Residence”) as collateral to secure payment of the indebtedness evidenced by the Note. (R. 497 (Ruling, ¶ 1); R. 200 (Fink’s Statement of Facts, ¶ 6(b)); R. 437 (Machock’s Response, ¶ 6)).

- c. Fink executed a personal guaranty (the “Guaranty”) of the “full and timely performance by [Harmer] of all of his obligations under the Note.” (R. 413-17 (Guaranty, ¶ 1.1)); (R. 497 (Ruling, ¶ 2); R. 200 & 273-277 (Fink’s Statement of Facts, ¶ 6(c) & Ex. G); R. 437-39 (Machock’s Response, ¶ 6)).

3. Harmer failed to repay the full balance of the loan. (R. 498 (Ruling, ¶ 3); R. 200-01 (Fink’s Statement of Facts, ¶ 7); R. 439-40 (Machock’s Response, ¶ 7)).

4. On October 15, 1999, Machock filed this lawsuit against Fink. Machock’s complaint seeks to collect from Fink the \$150,000 due under the Note, plus interest and attorneys’ fees, pursuant to the terms of the Guaranty. (R. 1-3 (Complaint); R. 498 (Ruling, ¶ 5); R. 201 (Fink’s Statement of Facts, ¶ 8); R. 440 (Machock’s Response, ¶ 8)).

5. On February 29, 2000, Machock foreclosed on the Trust Deed by holding a trustee’s sale under the Trust Deed pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-28. (R. 498 (Ruling ¶ 6)). This trustee’s sale was commenced after the Notice of Default and Notice of Trustee’s Sale had been given as required by Utah Code Ann. §§ 57-1-24 and 25. (R. 201 (Fink’s Statement of Facts, ¶ 9); R. 440 (Machock’s Response, ¶ 9)).

6. Machock was the highest bidder at the trustee's sale and he took title to the Harmer Residence through the Trustee's Deed. (R. 498 (Ruling, ¶ 6); R. 201 (Fink's Statement of Facts, ¶ 10); R. 440 (Machock's Response, ¶ 10)).

7. Machock never filed a deficiency action against Fink pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32. (R. 201 (Fink's Statement of Facts, ¶ 11); R. 440 (Machock's Response, ¶ 11)). The complaint Machock is pursuing in this action seeks to recover the full amount of the note without regard to the fact that Machock foreclosed on the Harmer Residence, and without regard to the requirements of section 57-1-32. (R. 1-3 (Complaint)). On March 6, 2003, at the hearing on Fink's motion for summary judgment, Machock's counsel stated that this suit against Fink was not a deficiency action under Section 57-1-32. (R. 502 (Ruling at 7 ("[A]t the March 6, 2003 hearing, counsel for Machock plainly argued that the suit against Fink was not a deficiency action under § 57-1-32.")); Transcript of Summary Judgment Hearing on March 6, 2003 ("Tr."), R. 531, Tr. page 22, lines 20-25.)

8. On February 1, 2001, Fink filed a motion for summary judgment on the basis, among others, that Machock's complaint in this case is barred because Machock failed to file a deficiency action to recover the balance due on the obligation for which the Trust Deed was given as security within three months following the sale, as required by section 57-1-32. (R. 195-197 & 198-296 (Fink's Motion and supporting Memorandum.) On March 6, 2003, the trial court heard oral arguments on Fink's motion. (R.507; and R. 531, Tr. page 1, lines 4-7.)

9. On March 24, 2003, the trial court issued its Ruling on Defendant's [Fink's] Motion for Summary Judgment (the "Ruling"), holding that Machock's breach of contract claim would be treated as a section 57-1-32 deficiency claim that satisfied the requirements of the statute. (R. 501-02 (Ruling at 7-8)). The court entered this ruling despite the fact that Machock had never filed a complaint for a deficiency, and continued to insist that his claim was for the full amount of the note and *not* for a deficiency. (R. 502 (Ruling at 7 ("[A]t the March 6, 2003 hearing, counsel for Machock plainly argued that the suit against Fink was not a deficiency action under § 57-1-32."); R. 531, Tr. page 22, lines 20-25) (R. 501 (Ruling at 6 ("In the hearing scheduled March 6, 2003, Machock, through counsel, argued that it would be entirely appropriate to foreclose on the property owned by Harmer . . . and also collect the entire \$150,000 from Fink."); R. 531, Tr. page 27, lines 5-14).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Machock became subject to the requirements of section 57-1-32 when he elected to foreclose on the Harmer residence. Surety Life Ins. Co. v. Smith, 892 P.2d 1, 2-8 (Utah 1995). Section 57-1-32 requires a lender who wishes to recover an alleged deficiency to file a complaint within three months immediately following the foreclosure sale. If the lender does not file such an action he cannot pursue a deficiency claim or any other action to recover on the underlying obligation. Concepts, Inc. v. First Sec. Realty Services, Inc., 743 P.2d 1158, 1161 (Utah 1987); Cox v. Green, 696 P.2d 1207, 1208 (Utah 1985); G. Adams Ltd. Partnership v. Durbano, 782 P.2d 962, 963-964 (Utah App. 1989).

Machock did not file a deficiency action within the time allowed by section 57-1-32. Machock has never filed or asserted a deficiency claim under the statute. A court cannot covert the breach of contract claim that Machock presently asserts into a deficiency action under the section 57-1-32.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. MACHOCK DID NOT FILE A TIMELY CLAIM FOR A DEFICIENCY UNDER SECTION 57-1-32.**

##### **A. As a Guarantor, Fink is Entitled to the Protection of the Three-Month Statute of Limitations Under Section 57-1-32.**

Machock's complaint fails to state a claim against Fink because it is not a claim for a deficiency judgment as mandated by Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 (2000), which provides:

At any time *within three months* after any sale of property under a trust deed, as hereinabove provided, an action may be commenced to recover the balance due upon the obligation for which the trust deed was given as security, and in such action *the complaint shall set forth the entire amount of the indebtedness which was secured by such trust deed, the amount for which such property was sold, and the fair market value thereof at the date of sale.* Before rendering judgment, the court shall find the fair market value at the date of sale of the property sold. The court may not render judgment for more than the amount by which the amount of the indebtedness with interest, costs, and expenses of sale, including trustee's and attorney's fees, exceeds the fair market value of the property as of the date of the sale. In any action brought under this section, the prevailing party shall be entitled to collect its costs and reasonable attorney fees incurred in bringing an action under this section.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 (2000) (emphasis added).<sup>2</sup>

Machock's failure to sue Fink for a deficiency within three months of his foreclosure sale is fatal to his case. Once a lender has sold the property at foreclosure, resort to section 57-1-32 is the lender's only remedy. Concepts, Inc. v. First Sec. Realty Servs., Inc., 743 P.2d 1158, 1161 (Utah 1987) (holding that lender's failure to file an action under section 57-1-32 precludes the lender's right to recover any deficiency); Cox v. Green, 696 P.2d 1207, 1208 (Utah 1985) ("Section 57-1-32 provides the exclusive procedure for securing a deficiency judgment following a trustee's sale of the real property under a trust deed."); G. Adams Ltd. Partnership v. Durban, 782 P.2d 962, 963-964 (Utah App. 1989). In Cox, this Court explained that a lender's election to sell the property at foreclosure "precludes [the lender] from seeking any other remedy." Cox, 696 P.2d at 1208. The protections of section 57-1-32 apply to guarantors the same as to principal obligors. Surety Life Ins. Co. v. Smith, 892 P.2d 1, 2-3 (Utah 1995).

Under section 57-1-32, if the lender elects to seek a deficiency, he must (i) **file** a complaint within three months of the foreclosure sale, and (ii) his complaint must "set forth the entire amount of the indebtedness which was secured by such trust deed, the amount for which such property was sold, and the fair market value thereof at the

---

<sup>2</sup> Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 was amended in 2001. The amendment is not relevant to the issues in this appeal because all pertinent facts occurred prior to this amendment. In addition, there is nothing in the amendment that would change the outcome of this issue.

date of sale.” Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32. See also Surety Life Ins. Co. v. Smith, 892 P.2d 1, 2 (Utah 1995).

Machock did not do so in this case. Machock’s complaint does not state a claim for a deficiency under section 57-1-32. The complaint pleads none of the elements required by section 57-1-32. (R. 1-3 (Complaint)). Machock lost the ability to pursue such a claim when he failed to file a complaint alleging the elements required by section 57-1-32. G. Adams Ltd. Partnership v. Durbano, 782 P.2d 962, 963-964 (Utah App. 1989) (“Very simply, if the beneficiary of a trust deed elects to foreclose nonjudicially, is owed a deficiency following application of the sale proceeds, and wishes to obtain a deficiency judgment, an action for that purpose must be commenced by the beneficiary under that trust deed within three months of sale or any claim to a deficiency is waived.”).

**B. The Trial Court Erroneously Treated Machock’s Complaint as one for a Deficiency Under the Trust Deed Statute.**

Although Machock insisted below that he was not seeking a deficiency under section 57-1-32, the trial court held that the statute does apply. The Court ruled that, once Machock foreclosed on the trust deed, “§ 57-1-32 became activated” and “the Act’s language regarding damages and fair market value will apply to the case at hand.” (R 500, 502 (Ruling at 5 & 7.)) This was error. The trial court could not turn the complaint into something that it could not be: a timely-filed claim for a deficiency. The court could not deem the complaint to include a claim for a deficiency under section 57-1-32, particularly when Machock did not seek to amend

his complaint but insisted, even at the summary judgment hearing, that he was not suing for a deficiency. (R. 502 (Ruling at 7); R. 531, Tr. page 22, lines 20-25.)

Machock made a deliberate decision in this matter not to seek a deficiency. The trial court was not entitled to “activate” the provisions of section 57-1-32 and apply the statute without a motion from Machock seeking to amend his complaint. Had Machock sought to amend his complaint to state a claim for a deficiency within three months of the foreclosure sale, it would have been within the discretion of the trial court to allow the amendment. Machock’s claim would have been timely.

As it was, however, Machock did not seek to amend and did not otherwise commence an action for a deficiency. He continued to assert that he was entitled to the full amount of the obligation from Fink, not merely a deficiency. The trial court correctly held that Machock’s could only sue for a deficiency, but incorrectly held that the deficiency statute had become “activated” (R. 500 (Ruling at 5)) and that Machock was entitled to a deficiency under the statute. In effect, the trial court amended Machock’s complaint to state the correct claim even though Machock did not ask the court to do so.

In Wells v. Arch Hurley Conservancy Dist., 89 N.M. 516, 554 P.2d 678 (1976), the court faced a similar issue. There, the plaintiffs sued a conservancy district alleging that the district had damaged the plaintiffs’ property as a result of the drainage of water from a lake. The plaintiffs sued under a statute that entitled them to recover damages for injury to their property. The defendant conservancy district did not file a counterclaim. Acting *sua sponte*, the trial court “transformed [the



plaintiffs'] claim into an eminent domain proceeding, the same as though it were brought by the defendant against the plaintiffs to condemn all of plaintiffs' properties." 554 P.2d at 679. On appeal, the plaintiffs argued that the trial court's *sua sponte* order was error. The Court of Appeals agreed, holding that the case could not have been transformed into an eminent domain proceeding. The concurring opinion by Judge Hernandez explained the Court's ruling in greater detail. He noted that the issue on appeal was whether the trial court had authority "to *sua sponte* change plaintiffs' complaint" from a claim for damages under one statute to an eminent domain proceeding. *Id.* at 681. "The rules of pleading cannot be totally disregarded if there is to be an orderly disposition of cases," stated Judge Hernandez. "This is particularly true when a party claims a statutory right, his pleading must contain all of the allegations necessary to bring him within the purview of the statute." Judge Hernandez explained that, "[u]nder our adversary system of jurisprudence the course of the law suit is controlled by the litigants, except in a few limited circumstances. That is, the initiative rests with the litigants. The role of the trial court is to consider only those questions raised by the parties." *Id.* at 683.

Although a court has authority to consider an "overlooked or abandoned argument" where it would otherwise "compel an erroneous result," Kaiserman Assocs., Inc. v. Francis Town, 977 P.2d 462, 464 (Utah 1998), the court cannot remedy a *pleading deficiency* that resulted from a deliberate tactical decision by plaintiff. Considering an overlooked argument is one thing, but *sua sponte* remedying a pleading mistake is another. The court's authority does not go that far. The

requirements of notice pleading, though broadly construed, still require “a short plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” Rule 8(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In the present case, Machock’s pleadings contain no such statement showing his entitlement to a deficiency. The trial court erred in remedying that lack on its own initiative. The trial court’s effort to fix Machock’s pleading for him is particularly egregious in a case where, like this one, specific facts must be plead in a complaint. Section 57-1-32 requires that the pleading (which must be filed within three months of the sale) “shall set forth the entire amount of the indebtedness that was secured by the trust deed, the amount for which the property was sold, and the fair market value of the property at the date of sale.” See also Reedeker v. Salisbury, 952 P.2d 577, 589 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (even though the law did not bar a claim for intentional misconduct, the court held that dismissal of the plaintiff’s claim was proper because plaintiff had not alleged intentional misconduct in the complaint).

In the present case, the trial court had no authority to transform Machock’s case into a claim for a deficiency when Machock himself failed to file such an action as required by the statute.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT MISINTERPRETED KIRKBRIDE IN HOLDING THAT MACHOCK SATISFIED SECTION 57-1-32 BY GIVING NOTICE TO FINK THROUGH MEANS OTHER THAN THE FILING OF A COMPLAINT.**

Beyond finding that section 57-1-32 governed Machock’s claim, the trial court went even further, holding that the statute of limitations had been satisfied. The trial court ruled that “the three month notice and filing requirement has been well satisfied

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