2003

Joseph Machock v. Carl William Fink : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Fink’s reliance on Concepts, Inc. v. First Security Realty Services Inc., 743 P.2d 1158 (Utah 1987), Cox v. Green, 696 P.2d 1207 (Utah 1985) and Surety Life Ins. Co. v. Smith, 892 P.2d 1 (Utah 1995) is therefore wholly misplaced. None of these cases involved a separate claim for liability on an absolute guaranty that was filed prior to the foreclosure. Rather, those cases dealt with situations in which the lender pursued a deficiency against the borrowers or guarantors after the foreclosure. This is not the case

⁴ The plain language of section 57-1-32 referred to by the Court states that “an action may be commenced to recover the balance due upon *the* obligation for which *the* trust deed was given as security.” Durbano, 782 P.2d at 963 (emphasis in original).

here. Because Machock's Complaint was filed before the foreclosure and four months before the sale, those cases are inapposite.⁵

Fink is likewise mistaken that Durbano supports his claim that Machock's Complaint should be barred. In fact, the Durbano Court specifically held that the defendants' interpretation of the statute, like Fink's:

[w]ould work anomalous results in several situations. For example, if a senior trust deed was foreclosed nonjudicially, the beneficiary of a junior trust deed would have only three months to bring an action on the note formally secured by his or her trust deed. But what if that note was not in default? In appellants' view, the beneficiary would still have only three months to bring an action even though no action could be brought if no default existed. If the debtor could stay current for those three months, he or she could then cease making any payments whatsoever with absolute impunity.

Id.

⁵ Fink likewise attempts to make much of the fact that at the March 6, 2003 hearing on his motion for summary judgment, counsel for Machock argued that this suit against Fink was not a deficiency. Br. of Appellant at 10-11. This argument from counsel, however, is not evidence, see State v. Dunn, 850 P.2d 1201, 1225 (Utah 1993), and did not matter to the trial court, "in light of the very broad, very expansive reading given to the statute by the Utah Supreme Court." R. at 501. More importantly, it is irrelevant under the trial court's Ruling that Machock could still pursue his breach of contract claim against Fink, subject to the restrictions of section 57-1-32. R. at 500. In fact, counsel's isolated statement is taken entirely out of context. Although counsel for Machock informed the trial court that "[t]his suit is an action to enforce a guarantee of payment and contractual rights," R. at 531, Tr. p. 22, counsel went on to state, "[t]hat is a distinct difference between bringing a deficiency claim within three months after a foreclosure sale. This suit existed prior in time as the Court knows to the sale." R. at 531, Trans. p. 23. Accordingly, counsel's statements merely demonstrate that this action is distinct from those in First Sec. Realty, Green, and Surety Life because here, Machock had already filed a Complaint. In fact, at the hearing, counsel for Machock acknowledged that Machock would be precluded from obtaining a double recovery on his breach of contract claim. R. at 531, Tr. p. 27 ("[w]hat happened in this one situation is fine, you cannot get a double recovery in a windfall. . . .").

An application of these principals in Durbano illustrates the futility of Fink's proposed interpretation of the statute as an absolute bar, especially with a pending action against an absolute Guarantee agreement. If, as in Durbano, the statute does not affect the rights and obligations of parties to other trust deeds, sound logic dictates that it likewise does not apply to a prior filed Complaint asserting a valid cause of action under an absolute Guarantee agreement.

III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED SECTION 57-1-32 TO MACHOCK'S COMPLAINT.

The trial court correctly ruled that section 57-1-32 became activated once the trustee's sale of Harmer's Trust Deed occurred on February 29, 2000. R. at 500. Relying on Kirkbride, the trial court recognized that the three-month limitation period of section 57-1-32 is a mere procedural hurdle and the purpose of section 57-1-32 of providing Fink with notice that Machock would pursue a deficiency had been well satisfied by Machock. R. at 502-03. The trial court noted that it could provide Machock with an opportunity to amend his Complaint to conform to the parameters of section 57-1-32, but found that a more efficient approach would be to simply apply the restrictions of the statute to the current Complaint. R. at 503.

The record is replete with examples of Machock placing Fink on notice that he would pursue a deficiency against Fink, thereby satisfying the purpose of section 57-1-32. These notices to Fink are both before and after the February 29, 2000 trustee's sale. In addition, Fink conveniently ignores the effect of the prior filing of Machock's

Complaint and his own pleadings placing the foreclosure of the Harmer' property at issue.

First, before even filing the Complaint on October 15, 1999, David Detton, prior counsel for Machock, sent a letter dated October 4, 1999 to Gregory Barrick of Durham, Jones & Pinegar, counsel for Fink, placing Fink on notice that Machock would be filing an action and pursuing a deficiency against Fink. R. at 465-66. Counsel for Machock also enclosed a courtesy copy of Machock's Complaint with this letter and was informed that "Mr. Machock has instructed me to commence default proceedings under the Trust Deed." R. at 465.

Second, Machock's Complaint against Fink for breach of contract was filed on October 15, 1999. R. at 1-3. In the Complaint, filed four months before the trustee's sale, Machock alleged that Fink was liable under the Guarantee for the full amount of the Note. R. at 2-3.

Third, in Fink's January 10, 2000 Answer and Counterclaim, Fink acknowledges that he was aware that the deficiency was an issue, asserting in his Answer that Machock seek foreclosure of the collateral pledged by Harmer and that Machock's claim is barred by the one action rule and by Machock's failure to exhaust the collateral that secures the Note. R. at 7-8. Likewise, in his Counterclaim, Fink alleges that he is entitled to a declaratory judgment that Machock must first seek to foreclose upon and otherwise exhaust the real property collateral pledged by Harmer to secure his obligations under the Note before he can seek to recover from Fink any unsatisfied obligation under the Note. R. at 15, 19.

Fourth, in a second letter, dated April 18, 2000, Fink's counsel was informed that "[a]lthough Mr. Machock has completed his foreclosure proceedings under his trust deed and has listed the property for sale. . . there can be no assurance that a buyer can be found for the former Harmer residence before foreclosure proceedings under the first trust deed are completed." R. at 464. This same letter also informed Fink of the following:

Please be advised that Mr. Machock is not in a position to make any payments to cure the default under the first trust deed, to advance any additional sums to purchase the underlying obligation or otherwise to provide any financial consideration to extend the period before foreclosure. You should also be aware that the consideration provided by Mr. Machock at the foreclosure proceedings on his trust deed was limited to a credit bid in the amount of the outstanding obligations under the first trust deed. In the event the first trust deed is foreclosed, Mr. Machock will continue to seek recovery under Mr. Fink's guarantee for the entire amount of the deficiency represented by Mr. Harmer's note, together with his costs incurred in enforcing the guarantee.

R. at 464. Finally, counsel for Machock invited counsel for Fink to "strongly encourage Mr. Fink to reconsider his position with respect to mitigating his damages by performing his obligations under the Guarantee and taking an assignment of Mr. Machock's position in the former Harmer property and in Mr. Harmer's note." R. at 464. Despite this invitation, Fink failed to take any action to protect his interests as the guarantor of Harmer's obligation.

Fifth, on October 11, 2000, Fink filed an Amended Answer, Counterclaim and Third Party Complaint. R. at 84-106. In his Amended Answer, Fink asserts that Machock's claim is barred for failure to mitigate, and that Fink's obligation "should be reduced by the fair market value of the real property upon which Machock foreclosed."

R. at 89. Similarly, in his Amended Counterclaim, Fink asserts that he is entitled to a declaratory judgment that Machock's only recourse "is the foreclosure on the real property pledged by Harmer *which Machock has pursued*, and to pursue repayment from Harmer." R. at 98 (emphasis added).

Finally, on October 31, 2000, Machock filed a Reply to Fink's Amended Counterclaim. R. at 247-60. In paragraph 26 of his Reply, Machock asserts in response to Fink's allegation that Machock claims a right to recover from Fink the full amount of the Note regardless of whether Machock has foreclosed the real property, that "this issue has been mooted by the completion of foreclosure proceedings against the Harmer residence, which failed to yield any funds to satisfy Machock's lien when Machock was unable to sell the Harmer residence before the foreclosure of the prior first trust deed." R. at 255. Machock further asserts in his Eighth Affirmative Defense to Fink's Amended Counterclaim that:

Defendant's claims are barred, in whole or in part, by his failure to mitigate damages, including without limitation Defendant's failure to accept the tender of the Trust Deed, Defendant's failure to accept the tender of the opportunity to direct the marketing and sale of the Harmer residence, Defendant's failure to accept the tender of the opportunity to maintain and repair the Harmer residence pending its sale to preserve the fair market value of the property, Defendant's failure to respond with reasonable promptness to potential offers to purchase the Harmer residence, and Defendant's failure to accept the tender of the Judgment by Confession entered against Harmer.

R. at 258.

This evidence undeniably demonstrates that Fink possessed notice of the foreclosure and Machock's intent to pursue a deficiency, satisfying the purpose of section 57-1-32. Fink contends that, despite these numerous notices, Machock's Complaint should be dismissed because Machock did not present any evidence that he had informed Fink about the *time and place* of the foreclosure sale. Br. of Appellant at p. 14, n3. The Court's reasoning in Kirkbride disposes of this argument. Further, Fink admitted in his memorandum in support of motion for summary judgment that notice of the time and place of the trustee's sale was properly provided pursuant to section 57-1-25 of the Utah Code.⁶ R. at 201. Section 57-1-32 does not require that that lender actually inform the debtor of the time and place of the sale. Because Machock provided the required notice on numerous occasions, as explained above, Fink is unable to demonstrate any prejudice resulting from the restrictions of section 57-1-32 imposed on Machock's Complaint.

IV. FINK'S REMAINING ARGUMENTS THAT MACHOCK'S COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH SECTION 57-1-32 ARE MERITLESS.

Fink makes several additional arguments to support his claim that the trial court's Ruling should be reversed. Each argument lacks merit.

⁶ Section 57-1-25 provides that "[t]he trustee shall give written notice of the time and place of sale particularly describing the property to be sold: (a) by publication of the notice. . . and (b) by posting the notice: (i) at least 20 days before the date of sale is scheduled; and (ii) (A) in some conspicuous place on the property to be sold: . . ." Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-25 (2003). Recital of this required notice in the trustee's deed is prima facie evidence of compliance with the notice requirements. See Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-28 (2)(c)(i) (2003) ("The recitals . . . constitute prima facie evidence of compliance with Sections 57-1-19 through 57-1-36. . . .").

A. The Trial Court Did Not *Sua Sponte* Remedy A Pleading Defect.

Fink complains that the trial court's Ruling has *sua sponte* "turn[ed] the complaint into something that it could not be: a timely-filed claim for a deficiency." Br. of Appellant at 10-12. The Ruling did no such thing. Rather, as demonstrated above, the trial court properly ruled that Machock's Complaint stated a valid claim for breach of contract against Fink, Machock's notices to Fink met the purpose of section 57-1-32 and the restrictions in section 57-1-32 would be applied to Machock's suit against Fink for payment on the Guarantee. R. at 501. Fink's reliance on Wells v. Arch Hurley Conservancy Dist., 89 N.M. 516, 554 P.2d 678 (N.M. 1976) and Kaiserman Assocs., Inc. v. Francis Town, 977 P.2d 462, 464 (Utah 1998) for this proposition is therefore misplaced, as the trial court did not *sua sponte* remedy a pleading defect.

Fink was on notice of Machock's intent to seek a deficiency against him and in fact actually placed the deficiency at issue. In his Answer, Fink asserts that he "demanded that Machock seek foreclosure of the collateral pledged by Harmer to secure the loan," that "Machock's purported claim for relief in his Complaint is barred by the one action rule," and that "Machock's purported claim for relief is barred by his failure to exhaust the collateral that secures the Note and by the provisions of the One Action Rule, Utah Code Ann. § 78-37-1 (1996)." R. at 7-8. Fink also raised this issue in his Counterclaim by alleging that he is entitled to a declaratory judgment that Machock must first seek to foreclose upon and otherwise exhaust the real property collateral pledged by Harmer to secure his obligations under the Note before he can seek to recover from Fink any unsatisfied obligation under the Note. R. at 15, 19.

Fink also asserts similar affirmative defenses in his Amended Answer, contending that Machock failed to mitigate his damages and, in particular, that Fink's obligations pursuant to the Guarantee "should be reduced by the fair market value of the real property upon which Machock foreclosed." R. at 89. His Amended Counterclaim also asserts that he is entitled to a declaratory judgment that Machock's only recourse "is the foreclosure on the real property pledged by Harmer *which Machock has pursued*, and to pursue repayment from Harmer." R. at 98 (emphasis added).

In his responses to Machock's Second Set of Interrogatories and Requests For Production of Documents dated January 29, 2001, Fink again placed the deficiency at issue when he informed Machock that Fink "has retained Marty Bodell to give an opinion as to the fair market value of the Harmer residence as of February 2000. Fink will produce a copy of Mr. Bodell's written appraisal which states the substance of Mr. Bodell's opinion and the basis for that opinion." See Addendum, Exhibit "A."

In his responses to Fink's discovery requests addressing the restrictions of section 57-1-32, Machock informed Fink that he believed the fair market value of the Harmer property as of the date of sale to be \$308,613.38, informed Fink how he calculated that figure, and that Machock submitted a credit bid of \$1,000 over the amount due pursuant to the first priority deed of trust.⁷ It is now within the province of the court, pursuant to section 57-1-32 to determine the amount Fink owes under the Guarantee, the sale price of

⁷ Fink's statement that "[t]o date, Machock has not informed Fink what the fair market value is or the amount of any alleged deficiency," Br. of Appellant at p.14, n3, is a misrepresentation of the record.

the Harmer property, and the fair market value of the Harmer property at the date of sale. See Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 (2003) (“Before rendering judgment, the court shall find the fair market value of the property at the date of sale.”).

In short, Fink’s affirmative defenses in his pleadings and discovery demonstrate that Machock’s intent to claim a deficiency was at issue in this case. Thus, there was no need for Machock to amend his Complaint or file a second Complaint to add a deficiency claim.⁸ Fink can demonstrate no prejudice resulting from the Ruling and the restrictions of section 57-1-32 imposed on Machock’s Complaint. As Fink possessed notice of the foreclosure and Machock’s intent to seek a deficiency, the trial court’s Ruling should be affirmed.

B. Kirkbride’s Analysis Of Section 57-1-32 Is Applicable To This Case.

Fink contends that Machock is not the victim of a “procedural failing” since “he never filed an action under section 57-1-32 in the first place.” Br. of Appellant at 15. Fink’s argument lacks merit. It ignores the prior filed Complaint and the Utah Supreme

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